#### IN THE

### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 82,435

JAMES ARMANDO CARD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

# AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Billy H. Nolas Fla. Bar No. 806821 Julie D. Naylor Fla. Bar No. 794351 P.O. Box 4905 Ocala, FL 34478 (904) 620-0458

(Counsel for Appellant)

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This brief addresses Mr. Card's claims and the Circuit Court's summary denial of Mr. Card's motion for post-conviction relief, filed pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. No evidentiary hearing was allowed below.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## a. Statement of the Facts

The facts relevant to this appeal are closely intertwined with the issues presented. For ease of review, they are therefore discussed in the body of this brief in conjunction with a discussion of the issues to which they relate.

## b. Course of Proceedings

The trial was conducted in January, 1982. Mr. Card was Statutory and non-statutory mitigating evidence was convicted. presented at sentencing. The death sentence was imposed on January 28, 1982. On direct appeal, this Court was unable to consider the matters which have come to light during these Rule 3.850 proceedings -- that the trial judge abdicated to the prosecution the responsibility of sentencing Mr. Card, without disclosure or The facts discussed in this brief were notice to the defense. neither disclosed by the record, nor otherwise made known to Mr. Card, his trial counsel or his appellate counsel. This Court affirmed the conviction and death sentence. Card v. State, 453 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1984).

The issues involved in these proceedings were also not previously disclosed to post-conviction counsel, and therefore were not known to this Court or the federal court during prior post-conviction proceedings. See Card v. State, 497 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1986); Card v. Dugger, 512 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1987); Card v. Dugger, 911 F.2d 1494 (11th Cir. 1990); Card v. Singletary, 963 F.2d 1440 (11th Cir. 1992).

After Mr. Card's case had proceeded to the federal courts, the facts establishing the claim discussed in the first section of this brief came to light. In addition, the United States Supreme Court then issued opinions demonstrating that relief was warranted on the claims presented in the latter sections of this brief.

Accordingly, in March, 1992, Mr. Card filed a motion for relief and for an evidentiary hearing pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 (PC-R 1). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Card filed an additional submission addressing the claims in the 3.850 motion, requesting summary relief and again requesting an evidentiary hearing (PC-R 33). In addition to the specific factual proffers pled by his pleadings, Mr. Card proffered affidavits and other documents in support of his claims, including the affidavit of Judge Turner, the Judge who sentenced Mr. Card and whose actions are at issue (PC-R 68). Mr. Card's counsel also requested the opportunity to appear in court -- in order to address the claims and explain why an evidentiary hearing and relief were appropriate.

Without allowing an evidentiary hearing or scheduling an incourt conference, the trial court, on April 10, 1993, issued an order summarily denying relief (PC-R 134). The trial court's order tracked the State's response and attached the same "exhibits" which had been attached to the State's response (PC-R 137).

Appellant moved for rehearing (PC-R 186), explaining, <u>interallia</u>, that the summary denial of relief was improper, that an evidentiary hearing was appropriate and requesting "some opportunity to be heard" on the case in open court. Mr. Card also

filed a <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> memorandum reiterating that the claims were valid ones (PC-R 197). The trial court did not allow an in-court conference and summarily denied rehearing (PC-R 206).

Notice of Appeal was timely filed (PC-R 207). This appeal follows.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Each section of this brief addresses a separate claim for relief and each section begins with an Introduction outlining the nature of the claim. The claims and the facts, law and procedural issues relating to each claim are then discussed in the body of each section of the brief. In lieu of repetition herein, Appellant respectfully refers the Court to the Introduction included in each section of this brief as his summary of argument.

#### ARGUMENT

(I)

THE SENTENCING JUDGE ABDICATED HIS SENTENCING RESPONSIBILITY TO THE PROSECUTION, WITHOUT NOTICE TO DEFENSE COUNSEL, RENDERING APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR

# A. Introduction: Appellant's Claim

- 1. My name is W. Fred Turner.... I was the Judge who presided over the case of <u>State v. James A. Card</u>.
- I was asked by Circuit Judge Costello to testify in a hearing in the State v. Kayle Bates case as to the customary practice in my division for the issuance I testified in that of capital sentencing orders. hearing that it was customary for me to receive sentencing orders in capital cases from the State Attorney; that this customary practice was followed in the capital cases assigned to me; that I did not dictate findings to or request that the State Attorney submit the orders before the orders were prepared and given to me; that the prosecutors in my division provided the orders to me as a matter of course; and that I have never had a problem with this procedure. As I said when testifying, I adhered to an old saying which explained that the State Attorney is the "eyes and ears" of the Court.
- 3. As I testified at the hearing, I did not engage in off-the-record discussions with defense attorneys concerning the sentencing orders drafted by the State Attorney or the findings therein. As my previous testimony indicated, the results of any discussions with counsel about my views of the orders would be included in the record. The orders would then have been issued as provided to me. The orders were customarily provided to me prior to the sentencing hearing under Fla. Stat. § 921.141.
- 4. This was the customary practice and the process in Card....

(Att. A, PC-R 68-69) (Affidavit of Judge Turner) (emphasis added). The affidavit of Mr. Card's former trial counsel, H. Guy Green, explains:

- 1. My name is Guy Green. I served as trial counsel in the case of the <u>State vs. James A. Card</u>. My cocounsel was Tom Ingles. Mr. Ingles is deceased.
- 2. I have reviewed the affidavit of Judge W. Fred Turner regarding James Card's case, over which he presided. In his affidavit, Judge Turner states that sentencing findings imposing the death penalty were prepared for him by the prosecution, that this was Judge Turner's usual practice and that this practice was followed in the Card case.
- 3. I was not aware in James Card's case that this was the procedure Judge Turner followed in this case, nor was I aware that this was the Judge's common practice in capital cases. Had I been made aware of this procedure, I would have raised objections, including objections because sentencing findings as to aggravating and mitigating circumstances in capital cases must be made independently by the Court.
- 4. We presented mitigating evidence in the Card case (for example, through the testimony of Dr. Hord) and wanted that evidence to be considered by the Judge independently of the prosecution's view of the evidence, as was our client's right.
- I recall that all communication between the Court and the Defense Counsel is as on the record. not recall being advised that the State Attorney would prepare the Court's finding and sentence. We were not provided with a copy of the Findings Sentence before Judge Turner signed them, nor do I recall being told about the procedure Judge Turner followed, nor were we allowed the opportunity to object. <u>We received the</u> sentencing order in this case after it was signed and filed by the Judge. Had we known about the procedure Judge Turner and the prosecution followed, we would have appropriate the objections as was responsibility as Mr. Card's counsel. We received no notice concerning this procedure and thus could not object to the content and findings of the order drafted by the prosecution before it was signed and filed by the Judge.

(Att. B, PC-R 191-92) (Affidavit of former trial counsel H. Guy Green) (emphasis added).

Judge Turner's disclosures about Mr. Card's case only recently became available. As the affidavit expressly relates, the judge

allowed the prosecution to usurp his sentencing function in James Card's case and did not himself independently sentence or meaningfully weigh aggravating and mitigating evidence. The judge has now disclosed that he in essence allowed the prosecution to sentence Mr. Card and to make the sentencing findings; that this procedure was undertaken before the sentencing hearing had even occurred; that he simply signed-off on the findings as provided to him by the prosecution; and that, in all meaningful respects, he allowed the prosecution to usurp his sentencing responsibility. During prior proceedings, neither Mr. Card nor his trial counsel, direct appeal counsel or collateral counsel were aware of the agreement between the judge and prosecutor now disclosed by the trial judge's affidavit.

This Court was also unaware of the agreement. Neither the judge nor the prosecutor said anything about it on the record, and appellate counsel and this Court knew nothing about it. On direct appeal this Court did not itself weigh aggravating and mitigating factors but allowed the death sentence to stand on the basis of what the Court believed were the findings of the trial judge. See Card v. State, 453 So. 2d 17, 23 (Fla. 1984) ("It is the province of the [trial] court to determine the weight to be given the testimony in the sentencing phase."); see also id. at 24 ("The trial judge stated the following in his sentencing report..." [quoting what we now know was the prosecution's order]); id. at 21-23 (also quoting the "report," which we now know was the prosecution's order); id at 24 ("We will not overturn" the

"judgment of the trial judge."). As the evidence now disclosed demonstrates, the sentencing order relied upon by this Court on appeal was not the trial judge's -- it was the order of the prosecution. The "reasoned judgment" of the trial judge upon which this Court relies in capital cases never occurred in James Card's case. The fundamental constitutional flaw in James Card's sentencing thus infected not only the original imposition of sentence, but also the appellate review process.

The issues presented in this case warrant an evidentiary Neither the judge nor the prosecutors disclosed the unconstitutional procedure they followed during prior proceedings in this case. Judge Turner did not previously agree to be interviewed. Trial defense counsel knew nothing about the unlawful. procedure followed (See Att. B, PC-R 191-92, Affidavit of H. Guy Green). The record did not disclose anything about this procedure. And the prosecutors did not disclose it, although Mr. Card's case appeared in court on several occasions and although requests for the prosecution's records were made by collateral counsel pursuant to the Public Records Act, Fla. Stat. section 119.1 Judge Turner then, recently, agreed to discuss his sentencing of Mr. Card in a conference with attorneys from the Volunteer Lawyers' Resource Center of Florida. And it was then that he made the disclosures presented in his affidavit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The prosecution's files were purged of evidence about this procedure.

This Court's precedents uniformly condemn as unlawful sentencing procedures such as those the trial judge undertook in James Card's case (See infra, discussing this Court's rulings). Most recently, this Court reiterated that:

It is the circuit judge who has the principal responsibility for determining whether a death sentence should be imposed. Capital proceedings are sensitive and emotional proceedings in which the trial judge plays an extremely critical role. This Court has stated that there is nothing "more dangerous and destructive of the impartiality of the judiciary than a one-sided communication between a judge and a single litigant."

Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688, 691 (Fla. 1993) (appended hereto as Att. C), quoting Rose v. State, 601 So. 2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1992), and citing Code of Judicial Conduct, Canon 3A(4). This Court explained that the long-established and constitutionally and statutorily required procedure in Florida capital cases requires that:

First, the trial judge should hold a hearing to: a) give the defendant, his counsel, and the State, an opportunity to be heard; b) afford, if appropriate, both the State and the defendant an opportunity to present additional c) allow both sides to comment on or rebut information in any presentence or medical report; and d) afford the defendant an opportunity to be heard in person. Second, after hearing the evidence and argument, the trial judge should then recess the proceeding to consider the appropriate sentence. If the determines that the death sentence should be imposed, then, in accordance with section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1983), the judge must set forth in writing the reasons for imposing the death sentence. Third, the trial judge should set a hearing to impose the sentence and contemporaneously file the sentencing order.

<u>Spencer</u>, 615 So. 2d at 690-91. Just as the "process was clearly not followed" during the proceedings in <u>Spencer</u> -- and resentencing

was therefore required, <u>Spencer</u>, 615 So. 2d at 690 -- the process was "clearly not followed" in James Card's case.

As Appellant's proffers demonstrate, the facts establishing this claim were not previously available to Mr. Card, his trial and appellate counsel, or his post-conviction counsel. This Court has held that claims founded on newly discovered evidence are cognizable in post-conviction proceedings under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. See Harich v. State, 542 So. 2d 980, 981 (Fla. 1989); Scott v. Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465, 468 (Fla. 1992); Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 916 (Fla. 1992).

In Harich, the defendant alleged that his trial counsel had also served as a deputy sheriff. The facts proffered in support of the claim showed that the trial judge and trial prosecutor were aware of the potential conflict but that neither they nor the trial defense attorney disclosed it to the defendant or his postconviction counsel. This Court held that an evidentiary hearing was appropriate in light of the facts alleged. Harich, 542 So. 2d In Scott, after the defendant had been sentenced to death and the death sentence was affirmed on direct appeal, the trial judge disclosed that she would not have sentenced the defendant to death had she known about the codefendant's life sentence. Court granted relief. Scott, 604 So. 2d at 468-69. And in Jones, the defendant proffered evidence which he had not previously uncovered which showed that he may not have been the person who This Court granted an evidentiary hearing. shot the decedent. Jones, 591 So. 2d at 916.

As in those cases, the evidence about the <u>Card</u> sentencing procedures disclosed by the trial judge's affidavit was not available during previous litigation at trial, sentencing, on direct appeal or in post-conviction proceedings. The newly disclosed evidence demonstrates that Mr. Card's death sentence is constitutionally infirm. Because such evidence was previously unavailable to Mr. Card, the claim is cognizable in proceedings under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850. See Harich, 542 So.2d at 981; Scott, <u>Harich</u> and <u>Jones</u> hold that an evidentiary supra; Jones, supra. hearing is appropriate in Rule 3.850 cases when newly discovered The evidence now before the Court in this facts come to light. 3.850 action establishes Mr. Card's entitlement to relief. Att. A, Affidavit of Judge Turner; Att. B, Affidavit of former trial counsel H. Guy Green. An evidentiary hearing is necessary and appropriate.

#### B. The Disclosures

The Judge who presided over Mr. Card's trial and sentencing (W. Fred Turner), recently provided an affidavit which specifically discussed the procedures he followed in the death sentence at issue in this case (Att. A). As the affidavit discloses, the sentence imposed on Mr. Card is fundamentally flawed: the sentencing judge has disclosed that he in essence allowed the prosecution to sentence Mr. Card; that he allowed the prosecution to make the actual sentencing findings, before any sentencing hearing had even occurred; that he issued those findings as provided to him by the prosecution; and that, in all meaningful respects, he allowed the

prosecution to usurp his sentencing function. Judge Turner has also related that he made this arrangement with the prosecution because, in his view, the prosecutor is the "eyes and ears" of the court (Att. A, PC-R 69, emphasis supplied). The procedure Judge Turner employed was not disclosed to trial or direct appeal counsel, nor was any statement about it made on the record, nor was it disclosed by any judicial or other record in Mr. Card's case, nor was it disclosed to Mr. Card's collateral counsel during prior post-conviction proceedings.

The agreement between the Judge and the prosecution -described by the Judge's affidavit as his "customary practice" -came to light only recently. Judge Turner then agreed to discuss
Mr. Card's case during a conference with attorneys from the
Volunteer Lawyers' Resource Center of Florida and provided the
affidavit quoted above.

Because nothing in the record of Mr. Card's case previously shed light on the agreement between the Judge and the prosecution, this Court believed that it was reviewing the trial judge's findings on direct appeal. This Court did not independently weigh aggravating and mitigating factors on appeal in this case but allowed the death sentence to stand on the basis of what it believed were the independent findings of the trial judge. See Card v. State, 453 So. 2d 17, 23 (Fla. 1984)("It is the province of the [trial] court to determine the weight to be given the testimony in the sentencing phase."). The evidence now disclosed, however, demonstrates that the sentencing order was not the trial judge's,

but that it was the order of the prosecution. The "reasoned judgment" of the trial judge upon which this Court thought it was relying to uphold the sentence did not occur in Mr. Card's case. The fundamental constitutional flaw in James Card's sentencing disclosed by the sentencing judge's affidavit thus infected not only the original imposition of sentence, but also the appellate review process.

The infirmity in this death sentence is especially troubling because of the substantial mitigating evidence which Mr. Card submitted. As Judge Turner's affidavit discloses, none of this evidence was afforded meaningful or even actual consideration by the trial judge. This Court did not know on direct appeal that the "no mitigation" finding it was reviewing was the prosecutor's not the trial judge's finding. And this court did not know that the factual findings as to aggravation which it was reviewing on appeal were the prosecutor's, not the findings of the trial judge. Neither the aggravating nor the mitigating circumstances were ever validly considered by the trial judge in this case.

Statutory and non-statutory mitigating evidence was presented by Mr. Card at sentencing. We now know that the evidence was not given any meaningful consideration by the judge — the judge merely signed-off on the prosecutor's order. The mitigating evidence which the judge ignored included the following.

At sentencing, Mr. Card presented evidence about his abused and difficult background and childhood; his mental health impairments; his psychological deficiencies; and his impaired functioning at the time of the offense. Dr. James Hord testified, without rebuttal from the State, that Mr. Card, given his impairments, suffered from an extreme mental and emotional disturbance at the time of the offense and that his capacity to requirements οf the his conduct to the substantially impaired at the time of the offense. Although the prosecution presented no mental health or other evidence to rebut findings, the order the prosecutor drafted found no mitigating circumstances. As the evidence proffered in these Rule 3.850 proceedings shows (See Att. A), the order was drafted before the sentencing hearing had even occurred and thus before any of the mitigating (or, for that matter, aggravating) factors had been Judge Turner, without disclosure to defense counsel, presented. then simply signed-off on the order given to him by the prosecutor.

Dr. Hord explained that at the time of the offense Mr. Card was in a state of panic; that Mr. Card was "acting under extreme mental or emotional disturbance" and that Mr. Card's "capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired." See Card v. Dugger, 911 F.2d 1494, 1508 (11th Cir. 1990). Dr. Hord testified that due to his psychological disabilities Mr. Card has poor judgment; lacks awareness; has an inability to plan and understand consequences; has "little forethought" and has great difficulties when under stressful circumstances. Id. Dr. Hord also discussed Mr. Card's difficult and abusive background. After discussing Mr. Card's impaired "emotional and psychological state at the time of the offense," Dr.

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