FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 13 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURS

By Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES ARMANDO CARD,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,435

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, FOR THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

the time of trial - the later life sentence imposed upon an equally culpable co-defendant.

The factual "predicate" for this claim is the "testimony" of Judge Turner, either in open court or by affidavit. Inasmuch as it would appear that all that Card's attorneys had to do in order to secure this testimony was simply to ask Judge Turner for it, it has not been demonstrated why these matters could not have been raised in 1986. 4 This court has consistently affirmed the finding of procedural bar under circumstances comparable to those See, e.g., Zeigler v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S583 (Fla. November 4, 1993) (defendant's claim under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215, (1963), procedurally barred when presented for the first time Zeigler's third postconviction motion; no showing made that basis for claim was previously unavailable through diligence); Foster v. State, 614 So.2d 455, 458-9 (Fla. 1992) (same, where court noted that defendant represented by same collateral counsel throughout prior postconviction proceedings; Francis v. Barton, 581 So.2d 583, 584-5 (Fla. 1991) (defendant's claim under State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. procedurally barred when presented for the first time successive collateral attack; issue could and should have been in prior collateral litigation); Spaziano, (defendant's Brady claim, raised in fourth postconviction motion procedurally barred, where no showing made that, through due

The suggestion that the prosecutor's files in this case were "purged of evidence about this procedure" (Initial Brief at 7, n.l) is fanciful in the extreme.

diligence, facts could not have been uncovered earlier); Agan v. State, 560 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1990) (same); Lightbourne, supra (defendant's claim that judge was not impartial, based upon information in financial disclosure forms, procedurally barred when raised for the first time in successive collateral motion); Johnson, supra (defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, raised for the first time in successive collateral motion more than two years after finality of conviction and sentence, procedurally barred, where evidence relied upon "could have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence"). cases relied upon by Card, Harich which involved "unusual factual allegations", and Jones, which truly involved evidence which the defense could not have obtained earlier, are inapposite. The trial court's finding of procedural bar should be affirmed.

(C) Card Is Entitled No Relief

Additionally, it must be recognized that, even accepting the factual allegations as set forth in the affidavits, it cannot be said that Card would be entitled to relief or that a life sentence probably would have been imposed. Cf. Jones, supra. At most, the affidavits indicate that Judge Turner allowed the prosecution to draft a sentencing order; whether the defense had notice of this, or the order itself, is not clear, as the judge's subsequent affidavit suggests that they did (2PCR 132-3), whereas the belatedly-presented affidavit of Guy Green, Card's surviving attorney who was not primarily responsible for the penalty phase, suggests that it did not (2PCR 191-2). Contrary to the

Interestingly, the transcript in this case can be read to suggest that, if anyone drafted the sentencing order in this

representations in the Initial Brief (Initial Brief at 10, 12-14, 21, 36), these affidavits neither allege nor demonstrate that the sentencing judge did not actually consider all the evidence presented, and the fact that the proposed order may have been provided to the court "prior to the sentencing hearing under <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §921.141" (2PCR 69), hardly means that it was drafted prior to the penalty phase itself.

In this case, the penalty phase occurred on January 22, 1982, while the sentencing occurred almost one week later, on January 28, 1992, at which time the order was formally read into the record. Inasmuch as the order discussed the evidence presented at the penalty proceeding, i.e., the testimony of Dr. Hord (OR 168-173), it is difficult to see how the order could have been prepared in advance of the penalty phase itself; additionally, during the guilt phase charge conference, which occurred earlier on the same day as the penalty phase, defense counsel had announced that he was considering calling Card's mother and sister as witnesses at the penalty phase (OR 1018-19). Further, the order was not final unless, and/or until, Judge Turner signed it, and the findings contained therein have consistently been upheld against those few attacks which have been levied upon it. The trial court's denial of relief as to

case, it was Green himself. On January 22, 1982, Green asked Judge Turner if he planned to sentence Card that day. The judge answered, "No, because I have to ---", and Green stated, "I have written finding of facts" (OR 1156). At minimum, even if a scrivener's error occurred, this would certainly suggest that the defense has been on notice of this potential claim since 1982, thus reinforcing the correctness of the circuit court's procedural bar. Cf. Adams, supra.

this procedurally barred claim was correct, and should be affirmed.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF RELIEF, AS TO CARD'S PROCEDURALLY-BARRED CLAIMS UNDER ESPINOSA v. FLORIDA, U.S. , 112 S.CT. 2926, 120 L.ED.2D 854 (1992), WAS NOT ERROR

As his next claim, Card contends that his sentence of death must be vacated, under Espinosa v. Florida, U.S. , 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992), because his sentencing jury received deficient instructions on the heinous, atrocious or cruel and cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factors. Judge Sirmons found these matters procedurally barred, due to inadequate preservation at trial and presentation on appeal (2PCR 135-6); the judge also made an alternative finding of harmless error (2PCR 136). On appeal, collateral counsel do not discuss this court's precedent, James v. State, 615 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1993), which sets forth the procedural prerequisites for an Espinosa claim on collateral attack; consideration of likewise, collateral counsel for Card do not discuss such cases as Thompson v. State, 619 So.2d 261, 267 (Fla.), cert. denied, U.S. , 114 S.Ct. 445, 126 L.Ed.2d 378 (1993), in which this court set forth its most often applied harmless error analysis, in regard to claims of this nature. The state would suggest that the trial court's finding of procedural bar and, alternatively, harmless error, was correct, and should be affirmed in all respects. Because Card raises this claim in regard to two aggravating circumstances, each will now be addressed.

(A) The Heinous, Atrocious Or Cruel Aggravating Factor

Card contends that his sentence of death must be vacated because the instructions given to his jury on this aggravating factor "were virtually identical to the instructions found unconstitutional by the Supreme Court in Espinosa v. Florida" (Initial Brief at 45). Collateral counsel further contend that this claim was preserved in the trial court, because trial counsel had filed a pretrial written motion attacking the aggravator "on the basis of overbreadth and vagueness", and had "orally renewed the objection at the instruction conference" (Initial Brief at 50). Counsel further argue that both the sentencing court and this court, on direct appeal, applied an unconstitutionally overbroad construction of this aggravating circumstance (Initial Brief at 37-8). Analogizing this situation to one involving error under Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S.Ct. 1321, 95 L.Ed.2d 346 (1987), Card insists that he is entitled to relief. None of these contentions can withstand strict scrutiny.

As to whether this claim is cognizable on collateral attack, this court held in James that a claim that the instruction on the atrocious aggravating factor heinous, orcruel is unconstitutionally vague is procedurally barred, specific objection on that ground is made at trial and pursued on appeal." James, 615 So.2d at 669. Here, as this court noted in Card's 1982 direct appeal, absolutely no attack was made upon this aggravating circumstance on any basis. Card, 453 So.2d at In the Initial Brief, collateral counsel make absolutely no 23. representation that this matter was presented on direct appeal,

and due to the unquestionable appellate default, Card's Espinosa claim is procedurally barred. See, e.g., Chandler, supra (defendant's Espinosa claim procedurally barred on collateral attack, where, although counsel objected to jury instructions at trial, defendant failed to raise issue on direct appeal); Jackson v. Dugger, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S485, S486 (Fla. Sept. 9, 1993) (same); Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So.2d 313, 315 (Fla. 1993) ("Although defense counsel requested expanded instructions on both aggravating factors and objected when the standard instructions were given, this claim is procedurally barred because a specific challenge to the instructions was not raised on direct appeal"). On the basis of Henderson, Jackson and Chandler, this claim is procedurally barred.

Additionally, the state would contend that any jury instruction error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986) and Chapman v.

Although not critical to resolution of this claim, the state also contends that Card failed to adequately preserve this issue at trial. It is clear that a pretrial motion attacking the aggravating factor itself is insufficient. See, Sochor v. Florida, U.S. ___, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 2119-2120, 119 L.Ed.2d 326 (1992); Espinosa v. State, 626 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1993); Beltranaggravating factor itself is insufficient. Lopez v. State, 626 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1993). Further, it is clear that the instruction actually given the jury was modified based upon defense counsel's objections; the original instruction contained no definition of the terms (2PCR 101-110). Although defense counsel originally proposed a more expansive definition than that ultimately given (2PCR 107), defense counsel never indicated any further objection to the instruction actually given, thus waiving the point, see Freeman v. State, 563 So.2d 73, 76 (Fla. 1990); further, counsel never expressly objected to the instruction given (which was, as noted, partly his own creation) on the grounds that it was unconstitutionally vague, such omission, again, waiving the point. See, e.g., Griffin v. State, 372 So.2d 991-2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Kennedy v.
Singletary, 602 So.2d 1285 (Fla.), cert. denied, U.S.
113 S.Ct.2, 120 L.Ed.2d 931 (1992). Kennedy v.

California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967). This court has consistently found Espinosa error of this type to be harmless, based upon a conclusion that the manner in which the victim was murdered was "heinous, atrocious or cruel under any definition of the terms." See, e.g., Thompson, supra; Foster, supra. In this case, Card slit the Henderson, supra; victim's throat with such force that the knife left indentation on the bone of the neck, and, in the course of doing so, he completely severed the victim's windpipe and the right side jugular vein. As the victim bled to death, Card cried out to her, "Die, die, die"; Ms. Franklin had previously fought for life to such an extent that some of her fingers had practically been severed. The fact that the sentencing jury in this case did not receive a further explication on the meaning of the terms, "heinous, atrocious or cruel", was truly harmless because this crime was, inter alia, conscienceless, pitiless and unnecessarily torturous to the victim. See, e.g., Thompson, supra; Henderson, supra; Foster, supra; Davis v. State, 620 So.2d 152, 153 (Fla. 1993) (Espinosa error harmless where, given facts of case, jury would have recommended, and judge imposed, same sentence under any jury instruction). Additionally, the trial court, who, in his order, inter alia, expressly found that this crime was "set apart from the norm of capital felonies", given the "obvious torture and suffering of the victim", clearly applied the correct constitutionally narrowing construction of this factor, cf. Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047, 111 L.Ed.2d 511 (1990), as did this court, when it affirmed the instant sentence of death, cf. Clemons v. Mississippi, 449 U.S. 738, 755, 110

S.Ct. 1441, 108 L.Ed.2d 725 (1990); Richmond v. Lewis, ____ U.S. ____, 113 S.Ct. 528, 121 L.Ed.2d 411 (Fla. 1992); of course, any contention that this aggravating circumstance has been unconstitutionally applied, or that the factor itself is unconstitutional, is procedurally barred. See Henderson, 617 So.2d at 315; Johnson v. Singletary, 612 So.2d 575, 576, n.1 (Fla. 1993); Chandler, supra. No relief is warranted as to this procedurally-barred claim.

(B) The Cold, Calculated And Premeditated Aggravating Factor

Assuming that Espinosa applies to this circumstance, see argument infra, Card's claims in regard to this factor fail for the same reasons as set forth in the above section. Under the standard set forth in James, no claim of this nature is cognizable for review. Although defense counsel at trial objected to the jury being instructed on this factor as a law, and further complained that the standard instruction had no definitions of the terms, he never expressly contended that the instruction given was unconstitutionally vague (2PCR 98-117); as noted, the pretrial motion attacking the statute itself is insufficient to confer preservation. See Sochor v. Florida, U.S. , 112 S.Ct. 2114, 2119-2120, 119 L.Ed.2d 326 (1992); Beltran-Lopez v. State, 626 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1993); Espinosa v. State, 626 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1993). On appeal, finding of this aggravating Card attacked the although circumstance, no attack of any kind was made in regard to the jury instructions (2PCR 87-93). Under this court's precedent, any Espinosa claim in this regard is procedurally barred. See, Kennedy v. Singletary, 602 So.2d 1285 (Fla.), cert. denied, ___

U.S. ____, 113 S.Ct.2, 120 L.Ed.2d 931 (1992); Chandler, supra;

Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So.2d 452, 454 (Fla. 1993); Occhicone v.

Singletary, 618 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1993); Henderson, supra; Rose
v. State, 617 So.2d 291, 297 (Fla. 1993).

Additionally, as in Henderson, this murder was cold, calculated and premeditated, under any definition of the terms; it should be noted that in closing argument, defense counsel, without objection, told the jury that "something more" then the fact that Card had committed a premeditated murder was required (OR 424-6). Cf. Occhicone, supra. This crime was clearly the result of heightened premeditation, and bespeaks the existence of a careful plan and prearranged design. Cf. Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987). Card knew the victim in this case and was familiar with the physical layout of the Western Union office. He called Vicky Elrod on the morning that the crime was to occur, and informed her that he would be paying her back the money which he owed her. He prepared for the crime by wearing gloves, and he took great pains to avoid to detection, such as transporting the victim to a remote location. Any vagueness in the instructions as to this aggravating circumstance was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under DiGuilio and Chapman. See Henderson, supra.

To the extent that Card also suggests that the sentencing judge in this court misapplied this aggravating circumstance, or that such circumstance is itself vague (Initial Brief at 38), such claims would be procedurally barred. See Chandler, supra; Henderson, supra; Johnson, supra. Furthermore, it is not only clear from the sentencing order that the judge applied the

correct constitutional narrow construction of this aggravating circumstance, cf. Walton, supra, but also that this court, in the In affirming this appeal opinion, did as well. aggravating circumstance, this court expressly found, pursuant to Jent v. State, 408 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1982), that the facts of this demonstrated the requisite heightened crime premeditation. Card, 453 So.2d at 23-4. This court, in effect, cured any jury instruction error in 1984. See Clemons, supra; Richmond v. Lewis, ____, 113 S.Ct. 528, 121 L.Ed.2d 411 (Fla. 1992) (". . . a state appellate court may rely upon an adequate narrowing construction of the factor in curing this error [the weighing of an unconstitutionally vague aggravating factor]"). It should be noted that this court has relied upon Card in affirming the finding of the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance in other cases. See, e.g., Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890, 893 (Fla. 1984) (Card cited with favor); Mills v. State, 462 So.2d 1075, 1081 (Fla. 1985) (same); Scott v. State, 494 So.2d 1134, 1138 (Fla. 1986) (same); Jackson <u>v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 802, 810 (Fla. 1988) (same).

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